Skin Necrosis and Ulcers Induced by Medications

Joachim Dissemond

Contents

14.1	Introduction	95
14.2	Medications	95
14.2.1	Hydroxyurea	95
14.2.2	Anagrelide	- 96
14.2.3	Coumarins	96
14.2.4	Heparin	98
14.2.5	Methotrexate	99
14.2.6	Leflunomide	99
14.2.7	Hydralazine	- 99
14.2.8	Amezinium Methylsulfate	100
14.2.9	Diltiazem	100
14.2.10	Propylthiouracil	100
14.2.11	Nicorandil	100
14.2.12	Levamisole	101
14.2.13	Pentazocine	101
Conclusion		101
References		102

J. Dissemond, MD

Department for Dermatology, Venerology and Allergology, University of Essen, Hufelandstr. 55, 45122 Essen, Germany e-mail: joachim.dissemond@uk-essen.de

14.1 Introduction

In recent decades, it has been reported for numerous medications that their systemic administration can lead to the development of skin necrosis and subsequently to ulcerations. Allergic as well as nonallergic etiologic mechanisms have been discussed. Most of the relevant pathological reactions induced by these medications should be a type of vasculitis or vasculopathy. Although these reactions often manifest as a rash or other skin diseases, some medications lead to the formation of skin necrosis and ulcers [9]. Therefore, in this chapter, an exemplary number of widely used drugs which had been discussed to be responsible for the development of skin or mucosal necrosis and ulcers should be presented (Table 14.1).

14.2 Medications

14.2.1 Hydroxyurea

Hydroxyurea, synonym referred as hydroxycarbamide, is a hydroxylated urea derivative which inhibits as an S-phase-specific inhibitor of ribonucleotide reductase the DNA synthesis. It is clinically used for the treatment of patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia, essential thrombocythemia, and polycythemia vera.

In a retrospective study, 41 patients were presented in which a leg ulcer was caused by

Amezinium methylsulfate [25]
Anagrelide [36]
Barbituric acid [32]
Coumarin [13, 31]
Diltiazem [4]
Erythropoietin [16]
Estrogen combinations [40]
Furosemide [39]
Heparin [18, 27]
Hydralazine [24]
Hydroxyurea [2, 14, 41]
Leflunomide [19, 22, 26]
Levamisole [12, 34]
Methotrexate [1, 8]
Nicorandil [3, 30, 45]
Nifedipine [28]
Pentamidine [17]
Pentazocine [7, 35]
Propylthiouracil [20, 21]
Warfarin [5, 15]

Table 14.1 Overview of the systemic given medications

 that may be associated with the development of skin

 necroses and ulcerations

hydroxyurea. In these patients with a mean age of 67 years, it came after an average treatment period of 5 years with hydroxyurea to the onset of ulceration. In total, 80 % of patients with ulcers healed after discontinuation of the medication. Clinically, in most patients, multiple ulcerations in the area of the malleoli could be found [41]. Comparable data have been presented by Best et al. in a study of 14 patients [2].

Hydroxyurea is the most widely publicized medication that is associated with the development of leg ulcers. It has been described that the first appearance of this extremely painful ulcerations is usually 1-10 years after starting treatment with hydroxyurea [10, 11, 14]. Hydroxyurea-induced ulcers are manifested in particular symmetrically in the area of the malleoli, dorsum of the foot, or heel (Figs. 14.1, 14.2, 14.3, and 14.4). The underlying pathogenesis is so far not fully understood. It was discussed that a graft-versus-host-like reaction with degeneration of the basal keratinocytes and an epidermodermal gap formation could be directly related to cytostatic effects of hydroxyurea on the basal keratinocytes. In addition, a disturbance of microcirculation by effects on erythrocytes with decrease in their number, increase of their mean volume, and thus reduced deformability has been described [41, 44]. The atrophie blanche was discussed to be a clinical indicator for an underlying disturbed microcirculation (Fig. 14.5). Several of these lesions are not reversible, so that despite discontinuation of therapy in some patients, recurrence of ulcerations can be found [23].

14.2.2 Anagrelide

Anagrelide is an imidazoquinazoline derivate, which is used for the treatment of patients with myeloproliferative diseases such as essential thrombocythemia. The inhibitory effect of anagrelide on human platelets is mediated by formation of a delay of maturation of megakaryocytes by inhibiting cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase III.

In a case report, our group reported a 38-year-old patient with extremely painful ulcers with atrophie blanche on both outer ankles, which occurred 6 weeks after starting treatment with anagrelide (Figs. 14.6 and 14.7). Despite an intensified advanced wound therapy, the wounds were refractory. A complete healing of the ulcer was achieved after stopping of the medication. An underlying disturbed microcirculation comparable to hydroxyurea effects was discussed [36].

14.2.3 Coumarins

Coumarins derived from 4-hydroxycoumarin compounds are well known as drugs with an inhibitory effect on coagulation. Coumarins have a structure similar to vitamin K. They are used clinically as for the treatment and prophylaxis of thrombosis and embolism. The effect as anticoagulants is based on the inhibition of plasmatic coagulation. Coumarins bind instead of vitamin K to the enzyme vitamin K epoxide reductase, block it, and thus inhibit competitively the formation of active clotting factors. The two most commonly used in medicine are phenprocoumon coumarins and warfarin.



Figs. 14.1, 14.2, 14.3, and 14.4 Extremely painful ulcerations of the lower legs in different patients after long-term intake of hydroxyurea



Fig. 14.5 Livid erythema with clinically typical atrophie blanche in a patient after many years of taking hydroxyurea



Figs. 14.6 and 14.7 Patient who developed 6 weeks after he starts taking anagrelide an atrophie blanche (Fig. 14.6) and shortly later very painful ulcerations in the area of both lateral ankles (Fig. 14.7)

In a case series report, three patients were described in which it came within 5 days after initiation of therapy with warfarin to painful, sharply defined erythema, which ulcerated secondary. All patients were obese. The authors discussed the fact that the coexistence and may be other individual factors are important for the development of coumarin necrosis [13]. Another case report described a 67-year-old patient with the occurrence of leukocytoclastic vasculitis of the lower limb 4 weeks after he starts coumarin therapy [42]. Skin necrosis occurred at 0.01-0.1 % of all patients after taking coumarins. This necrosis can be observed more frequently in patients with congenital protein C deficiency or rarely described association with a deficiency of protein S [31]. In addition, the affected patients may be more common in obese women. Skin necroses usually appear symmetrically on the chest, abdomen, or buttocks. Besides severe pain, often petechiae, erythema, and ecchymoses are the first clinical signs. As the condition progresses, crusts, hemorrhagic bullae, necrosis, or ulcer can be observed. As the underlying pathophysiology at the beginning of therapy with coumarins, hypercoagulative statuses by the imbalance of the various anticoagulant mechanisms have been discussed. The resulting

microvascular thrombotic occlusions typically cause necroses. The first clinical symptoms start within 1–10 days, usually on day 3–6 [5]. Only in rare cases, it can also occur even after several years of the onset of necrosis [15]. The median age of onset is 54 years; about 75 % are women, and about 60 % of the necroses are localized at the legs, breasts, or buttocks [5].

14.2.4 Heparin

Heparin is a mucopolysaccharide polysulfate, which binds to among others antithrombin III, causing the inactivation of many coagulation factors. Thereby, its anticoagulant effects are enhanced. Heparin preparations are used for the prophylaxis and treatment of thromboembolic disorders. The occurrence of purpura with necrosis in the injection areas and in other parts of the body has been reported. As a potential pathogenic mechanism, a leucocytoclastic vasculitis is described.

Another pathological reaction is the heparininduced thrombocytopenia type II (HIT II), which may lead to arterial and venous thrombosis with necrosis. HIT is caused by the formation of autoantibodies against the heparin platelet factor 4 (PF4) complexes and occurs in 0.1-2 % of all patients treated with heparin. After the beginning of heparin treatment, HIT II usually occurs within 10–14 days. If a heparin treatment has been done in the previous 100 days, the disease can manifest itself much more rapidly [18].

In a 66-year-old woman with diabetes and hemodialysis who received intravenous heparin during hemodialysis, the occurrences of ulcers of the lower legs were described [27]. Our group already described a 38-year-old patient in whom HIT II led to multiple necroses and ulcers on the mucous membrane and integument. The painful, sharply defined necroses with inflammatory surroundings were not localized at the injection sites [18].

14.2.5 Methotrexate

Methotrexate (MTX) is an analog of folic acid and competitively inhibits dihydrofolate reductase. As an antimetabolite, it inhibits DNA and RNA synthesis. The drug is dosed higher in oncologic patients as part of chemotherapy. Lower doses are widely used in the treatment of patients with rheumatoid arthritis or psoriasis vulgaris.

In the literature, a 39-year-old woman with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma was described. Two months after starting a therapy with 15 mg MTX once weekly, painless ulcerations on the malleoli appeared. One year ago, similar ulcerations occur after a combination therapy with 7.5 mg MTX and indomethacin was initiated. After discontinuation of the therapy within 2 months, the ulcers healed completely [8]. The occurrence of generalized erosions and ulcerations of psoriatic plaques was described in a case series report in 47 patients. As a risk factor, the co-medication with NSAIDs has been described [33].

14.2.6 Leflunomide

Leflunomide is a drug from the group of immunosuppressants, which is used as a therapy for patients with rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis. The active metabolite of leflunomide, A771726, inhibits the enzyme dihydroorotate dehydrogenase, a key enzyme for de novo biosynthesis of pyromidine [38].

Our group described a 68-year-old woman with rheumatoid arthritis who developed ulcers during treatment with leflunomide. The patient described 3 months after starting treatment with leflunomide the appearance of a purpura which ulcerated in the following days. As the result of a vasculitis, an extremely painful, sharply demarcated ulceration with livid edges above the right malleolus occurs [19, 26]. Another case report described a 78-year-old woman with rheumatoid arthritis and ulcers, which appear 6 months after starting treatment with leflunomide. It was discussed that a direct toxic effect of leflunomide on epidermal cells could be relevant, since leflunomide blocked in vitro, for example, epidermal growth factors [29]. In another case report, a 63-year-old patient who had suffered for 14 years from rheumatoid arthritis developed 10 months after initiation of leflunomide treatment on both lower legs spontaneously ulcerations. Neither serological nor histological signs for an underlying vasculitis could be found. After discontinuation of leflunomide therapy, the ulcers healed after 8 months [22].

14.2.7 Hydralazine

Hydralazine is a derivative of phthalazine. In some countries, it is used therapeutically as hydralazine hydrochloride in combination, for example, with atenolol or metoprolol and hydrochlorothiazide or for the treatment of essential hypertension.

In a 50-year-old man, very painful ulcers on the Achilles tendon were described after the intake of hydralazine for 3 years. The histology showed newly occurred autoantibodies comparable to the first manifestation of systemic lupus erythematosus. The authors discussed the occurrence of the ulcer as a manifestation of a drug-induced lupus erythematosus. After discontinuation of hydralazine, the ulcer healed ulcers quickly and completely [24].

14.2.8 Amezinium Methylsulfate

Amezinium methylsulfate is an indirect α -sympathomimetic which is used therapeutically in patients with essential and symptomatic hypotension. Amezinium methylsulfate inhibits the intra-dimensional monoamine oxidase, thus causing decreased norepinephrine degradation. Furthermore, it inhibits norepinephrine reuptake in the sympathetic neuron. Through these mechanisms, the noradrenalin amount increases in the peripheral receptors. This leads to vasoconstriction and the blood pressure rises.

A case report described a 52-year-old patient, who suffered for 22 years from a chronic glomerulonephritis, had hemodialysis, and had already developed a generalized vascular calcification. One year after starting treatment with amezinium methylsulfate, he developed painful leg ulcers which were refractory to different treatments for over 7 months. After discontinuation of the drug, the ulcers healed within a few weeks. The authors discussed that the vasoconstrictive effects of the drug can be an important cause for the ulceration [25].

14.2.9 Diltiazem

Diltiazem belongs to the group of calcium antagonists. The drug is used as diltiazem hydrochloride in patients with coronary heart disease or angina pectoris. As an antiarrhythmic drug for the treatment of cardiac arrhythmias, diltiazem can be used preventively against paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardia and in patients without Wolff-Parkinson-White (WPW) syndrome in slowing the heart rate in atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter. Another application of diltiazem is the treatment of arterial hypertension.

In a 59-year-old man with leg edema, livid erythema and ulceration of both lower legs as a result of a cutaneous vasculitis arise 2 months after starting a therapy with diltiazem. After discontinuation of the drug, the ulcerations healed completely after 3 months of therapy [4].

14.2.10 Propylthiouracil

The thiouracils are thioureylene that belong to the family of thioamides. Propylthiouracil inhibits the intrathyroidal peroxidase system. Therefore, it is used as a thyroid drug in patients with hyperthyroidism.

The intake of propylthiouracil over a period of 13 years for the treatment of Graves' disease was described in a 26-year-old woman. After increasing the dose to 50 mg/day, she developed 2 months later livid erythema and painful ulcers of both lower legs. Five months after discontinuation of propylthiouracil, the wounds healed. After retaking the medication, it came after a period of only 5 days to a relapse [21]. In another case report, a 27-year-old man with Graves' disease was described. Two years after beginning a therapy with propylthiouracil, it came to the occurrence of very painful ulcers on both lower legs. These ulcers developed from erythematous plaques with pustules, were sharply demarcated, and showed bizarre configured wound edges. A pyoderma gangrenosum was diagnosed, and a causal relationship with the medication was discussed. After discontinuation of propylthiouracil therapy and initiation of treatment with prednisolone and cyclosporin A, the ulcerations healed after 1 month [20]. Moreover, there are several case reports on the occurrence of intraoral ulceration after administration of propylthiouracil [43].

14.2.11 Nicorandil

Nicorandil is a nicotinamide nitrate ester, which is used for the treatment of patients with angina pectoris. The substance has the characteristics of nitrates but acts in addition as an activator of ATPdependent potassium channels. The opening of potassium channels leads to hyperpolarization of the cell membrane and to a decrease in intracellular calcium. This causes relaxation of smooth muscle cells and vasodilation. Nicorandil is a peripheral and coronary vasodilator, lowers systolic blood pressure, and increases heart rate reflex. A 73-year-old woman took nicorandil twice daily for 2 years, until for the first time leg ulcers over her Achilles tendon occurred. At the same time, there was also an onset of perianal ulcerations. After discontinuation of nicorandil, all ulcers healed after 5 months [30]. The occurrence of ulcers located intraorally or on the penis and perianal region is a well-documented side effect when taking nicorandil [3, 45]. For example, in a case series of 10 patients in an average of 26.6 months after starting a therapy with nicorandil, it came to the occurrence of ulcers. After discontinuation of the drug, the ulceration healed after 12 weeks (median) [6].

14.2.12 Levamisole

Levamisole is the levo-isomer of tetramisole and belongs to the group of imidazothiazole. It is an antihelmintic agent which is clinically employed as an immunomodulating drug in particular in the treatment of children with nephrotic syndrome. In addition, levamisole is also used for the adjuvant treatment of patients with colon carcinoma.

In a 67-year-old woman with rheumatoid arthritis, already healed venous leg ulcers were described. After she starts taking levamisole, the leg ulcer recurred. At the same time, livid erythema on the arms and intraoral ulcerations occurred. After discontinuation of the drug, all ulcers healed within 1 month completely [12]. In another case report, an 11-year-old boy with heterozygous factor V Leiden mutation and nephrotic syndrome developed leg ulcers after he had already taken for the last 3 years levamisole. Furthermore, at the same time, livid erythema and ulcers on the forearms, hands, and ears could be observed. After discontinuation of levamisole and initiation of therapy with cyclophosphamide, the ulcerations healed after about 4 weeks [34]. The occurrence of lesions in the form of purpura and/or lichenoid papules 12-44 months after initiation of systemic therapy with levamisole has been repeatedly described in particular on the Although the underlying pathogenic ears. mechanism is unclear, a potential connection between the levamisole intake and an infection was discussed. In some patients, the formation of autoantibodies such as Antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (ANCA) and lupus anticoagulant with an immune complex vasculitis or an occlusive vasculopathy could be shown [37].

14.2.13 Pentazocine

Pentazocine is a benzomorphan derivative from the group of opioids which are used as highly potent analgesic drugs. It is not only a strong analgesic but also a sedative and respiratory depressant.

In an article, a total of 10 patients with ulcers were described after taking pentazocine. There were 4 men and 6 women aged between 20 and 43 years. Prior to the first occurrence of the ulcers, the patient had been taking pentazocine 10 days to 7 years. Most of the patients had multiple ulcerations on the extremities [35]. In a 55-year-old man, chronic ulcers over both shins were described after taking pentazocine [7].

Conclusion

The pathophysiological relevance of the systemic intake of medication on the onset of necrosis or ulcers of the skin is not always clear. For most of the medications, there exist only a few case reports which describe an association with skin necrosis or ulcerations. Several of these patients took multiple medications and suffered from various underlying diseases that could potentially also cause ulcers. Necrosis and ulcers from the intake of medications are therefore usually a diagnosis of exclusion that can be discussed because of a temporal relationship. An exception with greater case report series is medications that contain the drug hydroxyurea or coumarins.

In summary, it is important that all therapists recognize medications as a rare but potentially relevant factor for skin necrosis or ulcers. If this correlation is not recognized early, this can lead to severe and prolonged problems for the patients.

References

- 1. Anonymous. Cutaneous ulceration with methotrexate. Prescire Int. 2003;12:59–60.
- Best PJ, Daoud MS, Pittelkow MR, Petitt RM. Hydroxyurea-induced leg ulceration in 14 patients. Ann Intern Med. 1998;128:29–32.
- Birnie A, Dearing N, Littlewood S, Carlin E. Nicorandil-induced ulceration of the penis. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2008;33:215–6.
- Carmichael AJ, Paul CJ. Vasculitic leg ulcers associated with diltiazem. BMJ. 1988;297(6647):562.
- Chan Y, Valenti D, Mansfield AO, Stansby G. Warfarin induced skin necrosis. Br J Surg. 2000;87:266–72.
- Cooke NS, Tolland JP, Dolan OM. Nicorandilassociated perianal ulceration: a case series of 10 patients. Br J Dermatol. 2006;154:199–200.
- De D, Dogra S, Kanwar AJ. Pentazocine-induced leg ulcers and fibrous papules. Indian J Dermatol Venereol Leprol. 2007;73:112–3.
- Del Pozo J, Martínez W, García-Silva J, Almagro M, Peña-Penabad C, Fonseca E. Cutaneous ulceration as a sign of methotrexate toxicity. Eur J Dermatol. 2001; 11:450–2.
- Dissemond J. Ulcus cruris Grundlagen, Diagnostik und Therapie. 4th ed. Bremen/London/Boston: UNI-MED Verlag; 2012.
- Dissemond J, Höft D, Knab J, Franckson T, Kröger K, Goos M. Leg ulcer in a patient associated with hydroxyurea therapy. Int J Dermatol. 2006;45:158–60.
- Dissemond J, Körber A. Hydroxyurea-induced ulcers on the leg. CMAJ. 2009;180:1132.
- El-Ghobarey M, Maurikasis M, Morgan R, Mathieu J. Delayed healing of varicose ulcer with levamisole. Br Med J. 1977;1:616–7.
- Ellbrück D, Wankmüller H, Rasche H, Seifried E. The clinical course of coumarin-induced necrosis. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 1991;116:1307–12.
- Eming SA, Peters T, Hartmann K, Scharffetter-Kochanek K, Mahrle G. Lichenoid chronic graftversus-host-disease-like acrodermatitis induced by Hydroxyurea. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2001;45:321–3.
- Franson TR, Rose HD, Spivey MR, Maroney J, Libnoch JA. Late-onset, warfarin-caused necrosis occurring in a patient with infectious mononucleosis. Arch Dermatol. 1984;120:927–31.
- Gibson A, Gardner J, O'Donnell J. Erythropoietin and painful leg ulcers: thrombosis or vasculitis? Arthritis Rheum. 2005;53:792.
- Gottlieb JR, Lewis Jr VL, Bashioum RW. Care of pentamadine ulcers in AIDS patients. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1985;76:630–2.
- Helbig D, Hillen U, Grabbe S, Dissemond J. Haut- und Schleimhautulzerationen bei Heparin-induzierter Thrombozytopenie (HIT) II. Hautarzt. 2007;58:774–80.
- Holm EA, Balslev E, Jemec GBE. Vasculitis occurring during leflunomide therapy. Dermatology. 2001;203: 258–9.

- Hong SB, Lee MH. A case of propylthiouracil-induced pyoderma gangrenosum associated with antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody. Dermatology. 2004;208: 339–41.
- Houston BD, Crouch ME, Brick JE, DiBartolomeo AG. Apparent vasculitis associated with propylthiouracil use. Arthritis Rheum. 1979;22:925–8.
- Jakob A, Porstmann R, Rompel R. Skin ulceration after leflunomide treatment in two patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges. 2006;4:324–7.
- Kikuchi K, Arita K, Tateishi Y, Onozawa M, Akiyama M, Shimizu H. Recurrence of hydroxyurea-induced leg ulcer after discontinuation of treatment. Acta Derm Venereol. 2011;91:373–4.
- Kissin MW, Williamson RC. Hydralazine-induced SLE-like syndrome presenting as a leg ulcer. Br Med J. 1979;2:1330.
- 25. Kitano Y, Nomura S, Saiki T, Osawa G. Leg ulceration during amezinium methylsulfate therapy for hypotension in a hemodialyzed patient with generalized vascular calcification. Nephron. 1995;71:115.
- Knab J, Goos M, Dissemond J. Successful treatment of a leg ulcer occurring in a rheumatoid arthritis patient under leflunomide therapy. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2005;19:243–6.
- Leblanc M, Roy LF, Legault L, Dufresne LR, Morin C, Thuot C. Severe skin necrosis associated with heparin in hemodialysis. Nephron. 1994;68:133–7.
- Luca S, Romeo S. Edema and skin ulcers of the lower limbs as a collateral effect of nifedipine. A clinical case report. Minerva Cardioangiol. 1999;47:219–22.
- McCoy CM. Leflunomide-associated skin ulceration. Ann Pharmacother. 2002;336:1009–11.
- McKenna DJ, Donnelly J, Armstrong DK. Nicorandilinduced leg ulceration. Br J Dermatol. 2007;156: 394–6.
- Muniesa C, Marcoval J, Moreno A, Giménez S, Sánchez J, Ferreres JR, Peyrí J. Coumarin necrosis induced by renal insufficiency. Br J Dermatol. 2004; 151:502–4.
- Oberste-Lehn H, Kaulen-Becker L. Necroses after barbituric acid and noludar poisoning. Z Haut Geschlechtskr. 1969;44(5):169–74.
- Pearce HP, Wilson BB. Erosion of psoriatic plaques: an early sign of methotrexate toxicity. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1996;35:835–8.
- Powell J, Grech H, Holder J. A boy with cutaneous necrosis occurring during treatment with levamisole. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2002;27:32–3.
- Prasad HR, Khaitan BK, Ramam M, Sharma VK, Pandhi RK, Agarwal S, Dhawan A, Jain R, Singh MK. Diagnostic clinical features of pentazocineinduced ulcers. Int J Dermatol. 2005;44:910–5.
- Rappoport L, Körber A, Grabbe S, Dissemond J. Auftreten von Ulcera crurum durch Anagrelid. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 2007;132:319–21.
- Rongioletti F, Ghio L, Ginevri F, Bleidl D, Rinaldi S, Edefonti A, Gambini C, Rizzoni G, Rebora A. Purpura

of the ears: a distinctive vasculopathy with circulating autoantibodies complicating long-term treatment with levamisole in children. Br J Dermatol. 1999;140: 948–51.

- Rozman B. Clinical pharmacokinetics of leflunomide. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2002;41:421–30.
- Siddiqui MA, Zaman MN. Recurrent and chronic leg ulcers secondary to furosemide-induced bullous pemphigoid. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1995;43:1183–4.
- Siregusa M, Alberti A, Schepis C. Skin ulcers in a young woman on low-dose estrogen-combination pill. Int J Dermatol. 1997;36:317–8.
- 41. Sirieix ME, Debure C, Baudot N, Dubertret L, Roux ME, Morel P, Frances C, Loubeyres S, Beylot C, Lambert D, Humbert P, Gauthier O, Dandurand M, Guillot B, Vaillant L, Lorette G, Bonnetblanc JM,

Lok C, Denoeux JP. Leg ulcers and hydroxyurea: forty-one cases. Arch Dermatol. 1999;135:818–20.

- Tamir A, Wolf R, Brenner S. Leukocytoclastic vasculitis: another coumarin-induced hemorrhagic reaction. Acta Derm Venereol. 1994;74:138–9.
- 43. Tsuboi K, Ishihara Y, Ishikawa M, Tsuchida Y, Nagasawa K, Watanabe N, Ueshiba H, Yoshino G. Unusual oral ulceration, skin rash, and fever in a patient receiving propylthiouracil. Thyroid. 2009;19:421–2.
- 44. Weinlich G, Schuler G, Greil R, Kofler H, Fritsch P. Leg ulcers associated with long-term hydroxyurea therapy. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1998;8:372–4.
- Yap T, Philippou P, Perry M, Lam W, Corbishley C, Watkin N. Nicorandil-induced penile ulcerations: a case series. BJU Int. 2011;107:268–71.